



Improving coolant filling for a shift towards electric vehicles

A production improvement study at Volvo

Cars

Master's Thesis in the Master's Programme Quality and Operations Management & Production Engineering

LÖÖF ANTON SVENSSON LEIF

Department of Technology Management and Economics Division of Innovation and R&D Management CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2018 Report No. E 2018:017

Improving coolant filling for a shift towards electric vehicles

A production improvement study at Volvo Cars

ANTON LÖÖF LEIF SVENSSON

Tutor, Chalmers: Tutor, Company: Jan Wickenberg Lenny Stoltz

Department of Technology Management and Economics Division of Innovation and R&D Management CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

Gothenburg, Sweden 2018

Improving coolant filling for a shift towards electric vehicles A production improvement study at Volvo Cars

ANTON LÖÖF, LEIF SVENSSON

© ANTON LÖÖF, LEIF SVENSSON, 2018.

Master's Thesis E 2018: 017

Department of Technology Management and Economics Division of Innovation and R&D Management Chalmers University of Technology

SE-412 96 Gothenburg, Sweden Telephone: + 46 (0)31-772 1000

Cover: [New Volvo XC40 T5 plug-in hybrid, Volvo Cars Press Picture]

Chalmers Reproservice Gothenburg, Sweden 2018

Abstract

The automotive industry is facing a technology shift, from traditional petrol and diesel cars into electric powered cars, due to a sustainability awareness from the market and technological advancements. To take part of this technological shift, automotive manufacturers need to develop and produce cars run by a whole new power train. Volvo Cars state that their sustainability goal is to bring 1 million electrified cars to the streets by 2025. To be able to do this, the manufacturing units need to adapt the production to meet new technical requirements and standards that is set for the new car models. A car powered by a battery will need a larger cooling system than what is needed in the petrol and diesel cars due to that not only the motor will need cooling, but also the battery.

This study is mapping the current filling capacity of the coolant filling station at Volvo Torslanda and evaluates potential improvements in order to increase the coolant filling station to meet future arising demand.

This was done by collecting qualitative data in terms of interviews and quantitative data in terms of process data and pressure measurements. This created an understanding of the process and map of the current state of the coolant filling station could be done.

The main findings are that the coolant filling station doesn't run on its full capacity. There are wastes in terms of waiting times from the operators and the equipment isn't trimmed to perform at its best. To improve this, recommendations on applying visual management and actions to trim the equipment are suggested. Upon these suggestions a future state map was developed and a maximum filling volume of 21,8 liters for the improved station was calculated.

Keywords: Coolant filling, Process optimization, Value stream mapping, Six-sigma, Automotive manufacturing

Acknowledgements

The author of this master's thesis would like to thank Volvo Cars and Chalmers University of Technology for providing the opportunity to pursue this study. The authors would also like to thank all the people that has provided this study with support and valuable knowledge.

Lenny Stoltz, supervisor Volvo Cars, for providing support throughout the project and also helping us to connect with other people and departments in the large corporation as Volvo Cars is.

Jan Wickenberg, examiner and academic supervisor, for providing us with continuous feedback and guidance on how to pursue the study and reaching our goals.

Tooling, ME and R&D department and their employees for their commitment in sharing their knowledge.

Table of contents

1	Intr	oduction	.1
	1.1	Background	.1
	1.2	Purpose	.2
	1.3	Scope	.2
	1.4	Delimitations	.2
2	The	ory	.3
	2.1	Processes and process mapping	.3
	2.2	Filling of liquid systems	.4
	2.3	Capability	.4
	2.4	Machinery capacity	.5
	2.5	Lean Production	.5
	Sev	en wastes	.5
	2.6	Visual management	.6
	2.7	Six Sigma (DMAIC)	.7
	2.8	Theory of constraints	.8
3	Me	thodology	.9
	3.1	How the study was performed	.9
	3.2	Data collection1	0
	Qua	alitative data gathering1	0
	Qua	antitative Data collection1	13
	Dat	a stratification and distribution analysis1	4
	3.3	Ethical consideration	5
4	Res	ults 1	17
	4.1	Organizational structure1	17
	4.2	SIPOC1	8
	4.3	Station layout1	9
	4.4	Cooling system architecture	21
	4.5	Equipment filling process2	21
	4.6	Analyze of overall process	23
	4.7	Analyze of equipment filling process2	27
	4.8	Pressure Measurement	30
	Init	iating phase	31

	Eva	acuation 1	32
	Vac	cuum test	32
	Eva	acuation 2	32
	Fill	ing	33
	Pre	ssure test	
	Lev	/eling	34
	4.9	Improving the process	34
	4.10	Estimate filling volume	37
5	Dis	cussion	40
	5.1	Discussions on the result	40
	5.2	Study methodology and future studies	42
6	Cor	nclusion	43
7	Ref	ferences	44

Appendices

Appendix I – Interview Questions

Appendix II – Process controller inputs

Appendix III - Boxplots for overall process

Appendix IV – Boxplots for equipment filling process

Appendix V – Prediction modelling, linear regression

Abbreviations

- C1, C2, C3, C4 Abbreviation for equipment number 1-4 on line 1:42 in VCT
- DMAIC Define, Measure, Analyze, Improve, Control (six-sigma method)
- EV Electric vehicle
- ICE Internal Combustion Engine vehicle
- Line 1:42 Location of the coolant filling process in VCT
- ME Manufacturing Engineering department at VCT
- R&D Research and Development department at VCT
- SIPOC Supplier-input-process-output-customer diagram (six sigma method)
- TC Final assembly plant at VCT
- TOC Theory of constraints
- Tooling Facility, Tooling and Equipment department at VCT
- TPS Toyota Production system
- VCT Volvo Cars Torslanda plant
- VED Diesel engine vehicle
- VEP Petrol engine vehicle
- VSM Value Stream Mapping

1 Introduction

This chapter contains an introduction to the present study. It begins with a background to the study, followed by the purpose, its research questions and finally delimitations of the study.

1.1 Background

The automotive industry faces a change in customer demand and technological advancements (Knupfer et al., 2017). Due to raising costs on fossil fuel and an increasing sustainability awareness, the market has started its migration towards fossil free powered vehicles. Volvo Cars state that their sustainability goal is to bring 1 million electrified cars to the streets by 2025 (Volvo Cars, 2016). The sustainability needs to be aligned in the whole value chain, from material to customer. This includes the manufacturing, which is facing new challenges associated with changed product designs. When starting to produce new car models, there is a collaborative work between the Research & Development (R&D) and Manufacturing Engineering (ME) departments in order to prepare the production for the upcoming models. The new car models can cause both design and production challenges. The design challenge is to design the cars in a way that emphasizes line production without compromising with the functionality of the car and also adopt the cars for a new power train containing a large battery. Manufacturing challenges can occur due to the new designs, where the production plants need to adopt its current facilities into being able to produce the new car models.

The upcoming new models at Volvo Cars are electric vehicles (EVs). In comparison to internal combustion engines (ICEs) the EVs uses a completely different power train design. Instead of a combustion engine the electrical vehicles are equipped with an electrical motor, and instead of consuming either diesel or petrol the cars power comes from a large battery.

Considering the major design change of the EVs, both R&D and ME needs to prepare for change.

This study will look into one of the challenges that might arise with the introduction of EVs in the future. As mentioned the EVs' power comes from a large battery instead of a combustion fuel. Battery packs generate a large amount of heat when providing an electrical motor with power. This affects the design of the cooling system of the car, in comparison to an ICE the EV needs cooling not only for the motor but also for the battery. This means that the cooling system for an EV could be significantly larger than for an ICE.

The cooling systems are filled with coolant liquid, a water and glycol mixture, at the coolant filling station located at line 1:42. The coolant filling station in Volvo Cars plant Torslanda (VCT) has four filling equipment. A car is filled with coolant by one equipment that moves along the line simultaneously with the car.

The increased volume in the future cooling systems for EVs can cause the cooling filling station in VCT to be at a critical point. There is an uncertainty in the capacity of today's coolant filling station and the ability for the station to meet the future requirements, which are of high uncertainty as well. Volvo initiated this study to investigate the uncertainty and to identify the capacity of today's process of filling coolant liquid in VCT.

1.2 Purpose

The purpose of this study is to map the current filling capacity of the coolant filling station at VCT and evaluating potential improvements in order to increase it to meet future arising demand.

1.3 Scope

The conducted case study will focus on answering the following research question and sub questions.

- How will the transformation towards producing electric vehicles affect the coolant filling requirements in the production?
 - What parameters affect the coolant filling station to improve its capacity and how are they improved?
 - How should R&D, ME and Tooling at VCT collaborate to support this transformation?

1.4 Delimitations

The study is limited to mapping the coolant filling process in the Volvo Cars plant in Torslanda. Volvo has similar processes in the rest of their production plants, but these will not be included due to limitations in costs and travel possibilities.

A number of assembling activities are performed at the coolant filling station, which are not related to the coolant filling process, these activities are not included in this study. This study has only included an investigation on the activities with a direct link to the coolant filling process.

The suggested improvement actions that has been developed in this study were not implemented due to the limited period of time the study was performed.

2 Theory

The following chapter describes the theoretical frameworks used in the methodology when conducting this study. Covering the fundamentals of Lean production, Six Sigma, capacity and capability measurements, process mapping theories and filling of liquid systems.

2.1 Processes and process mapping Supplier Value-adding



Figure 1 - Process definition reproduced from Bergman and Klefsjö (2010)

Bergman and Klefsjö (2010) describe a process by the definition "a process is a network of activities that are repeated in time, whose objective is to create value to external or internal customers", illustrated in Figure 1. The purpose of each process is to satisfy its' customers with the smallest possible resource. When improving an existing process, it is important to understand the process as it is before the improvement work takes action. It is crucial to understand for who value is created and what it consists of. Therefore, being systematic when describing the process at an initial stage of improvement work is needed. To gain knowledge about the process, process mapping can be applied. Process mapping can be performed in different ways, i.e. using a flow chart to identify different activities within a process, or a block diagram to identify where within an organization activities are performed (ibid.)

Damelio (2011) describes the reasons for mapping a process in the following terms; visualize the work performed, identify functions within the process, mapping relationships between functions, improve measurement and improvement capabilities. Bergman and Klefsjö (2010) mentions that the knowledge that is created by defining and mapping a process is highly valuable in itself, since it is an excellent way to further continue with improvement work, as it generates a shared picture of the current situation. According to Kalman (2002) process mapping is both a process intervention as well as an analytical tool. As an analytical tool, process mapping works to visually describe how activities are performed to show crossfunctional relationships in organizations. As a process intervention it works as an action learning tool. When constructing a process map it facilitates inquiry and dialogue between departments and becomes a catalyst for change. There are several types of process maps; value stream maps, process hierarchy map, subprocess maps on one process, depending on the level of the map. (ibid)

A process map also acts to show the inputs to a process and their effect on the output. The inputs can, depending on their characteristics, be categorized into three groups; controllable inputs (C), standard operating procedures (SOP) and noise (N) (Hammersberg, 2017). Controllable inputs are inputs that can be changed to see effect on the output. Standard operating procedures describe how the process is run and are often rules and constraints that need to be fulfilled, and thereby cannot be changed. Noise are inputs that are hard or too expensive to control but that affect the output, for example the humidity or air temperature (ibid.).

2.2 Filling of liquid systems

When filling a system with liquid, which could be anything from filling one liter milk pack with milk or a coolant system within a car containing small hoses with coolant fluid, two techniques are considered to be used; gravity filling or evacuation filling. Gravity filling is performed by letting the fluid flow into the system from an opening with a set volume and is normally used when filling e.g. milk packs. When filling, the air within the system is let out through an opening or a vent to avoid over pressurizing the system. When filling more complex systems that contain a number of components on different height levels, it is hard to let the air out when using gravity filling. Air might get trapped in the system which affect the total volume being filled to be lower than what is wanted. To overcome this, evacuation filling is used. Automotive manufacturers use the evacuation filling method to ensure the right level of liquid by minimizing the air left in the system in several liquid filling operations, such as coolant fluid filling and brake fluid filling (Pourmovahed et al, 1999). The study by Cerilles (2005) describes the filling process for brake fluid filling using evacuation fill. The process contains of several steps that needs to be performed: Evacuation 1, Leak check, Evacuation 2, Fluid fill, Leveling/Purge/Scavenge. Mali (2016) also confirmed this method of filling and also includes the step of performing a pressure test which is specifically used for coolant systems. Through pressurizing the system with air before the evacuation step is initiated it is ensured no leakages occur. Cerilles (2005) performed a study comparing different vendors of equipment for filling liquids in a manufacturing environment. The conclusion is that the evacuation filling method is the "best-practice" and most equipment vendors are supplying their customers with this method.

2.3 Capability

A process' ability to produce units within set tolerance limits is called its capability (Bergman and Klefsjö, 2010). Measuring capability is normally done over a set of time using statistics from the process control. Variation within capability over a period of time might occur even though elimination of all potential causes has been done. This can be due to variation between different working shifts, machines or product specifications. Capability measures are divided into machine capability and process capability. Machine capability is estimated by analyzing a homogeneous set of data from, for example, the same machinery, the same set-up or the same working shift. Process capability needs data collected over a longer period of time, since a process average might vary (ibid.).

2.4 Machinery capacity

Lödding and Rossi (2013) mentions that it is usually hard to appreciate the flexibility of machinery capacities but mentions a number of alternatives on how to do this. A company can change the amount of machinery by buying or renting new machines and thereby increase the capacity. This is preferable when using standard machines with short delivery lead times. Another alternative is to change the intensity on the existing machinery. This could be increasing the cutting speed of a machine. Changing intensity could also be to optimize the programming of the machinery but requires that it has not been used to its full potential until now. The possibilities for increasing the intensity of machinery are, though, often very restricted in the industrial practice (ibid.).

2.5 Lean Production

Lean production is a production philosophy originating from Toyota Production System (TPS). It is a broad subject which considers many aspects of a system, from the people in the system all the way down to the detailed pieces of a single process. The main focus areas in TPS is eliminating waste and establishing a corporate culture that at every occasion emphasis continuous improvements (Liker and Hoseus, 2008).

Within Lean production "learn by doing" and "go to Gemba" are commonly used to get to know process (Liker and Hoseus, 2008). Learning by doing means learning a process by being a part of it and by executing the work tasks. In traditional lean fashion, this is done by observing the process at Gemba, which means standing and observing in the factory and progressively gather more knowledge about the process It is deeply rooted in the Toyota culture how important it is to fully understand a process to be able to improve it (ibid.).

Seven wastes

Within Lean production there are seven wastes that are considered and tried to get eliminated to reduce the non-value adding work (Bergman and Klefsjö, 2010). In Table 1 these seven wastes are listed with a description upon each one of them. Slack et al. (2010) describe the elimination of waste as one of the major parts of Lean. For example, this could be done by conducting a value stream mapping of the process to determine what activities that are value adding and which activities that are non-value adding. In the end, the customer doesn't want to pay for non-value adding activities, only the value adding ones.

Table 1 - Seven wastes of Lean according to Bergman and Klefsjö (2010)

Overproduction	Producing products before they are required. It is a waste to produce too much, too early or too fast. Pull scheduling, producing products until when they are needed is wanted.
Waiting	People and parts waiting for a cycle to finish is considered waste as no value-adding work is performed.
Unnecessary transportation	A transport of goods does not create value itself. If an unnecessary transport can be eliminated, waste has been eliminated.
Over-processing or incorrect processing	A process producing defect products or products in need of adjustments must be adjusted.
Excess inventory	Products and materials waiting in storage do not create value. It also hides balancing issues and late deliveries from suppliers.
Unnecessary movement	People and parts being moved during work is not value- adding. These movement should be eliminated or decreased to the biggest extent.
Defects	Producing products with defects that needs rework is a waste. Inspecting products is also a waste that could be eliminated by producing the right products.

2.6 Visual management

Using visual management is a way of communicating a state of a process or to visualize a problem so that everyone can see it (Liker and Hoseus, 2008). Visual management can be used in a line production for communicating the current state of a process to the operator. Strong visual control is according to Liker and Hoseus (2008) when the visual control directly indicates if the process reaches outside of the standard. By indication, the system should both provide a value for the deviation and give some sort of signal that the deviation has occurred.

According to Tezel, Koskela and Tzortzopoulos (2016) visual management can have a good effect on reducing wastes, production costs, quality problems and safety issues at the operational level, which might lead to economic gains for an organization. Tezel, Koskela and Tzortzopoulos (2016) further mentions a number of functions that visual management fulfill, and why visual management is actual applied in production environments. One function is discipline, which is closely related to process standardization, and acts through visual management to communicate process requirements, work instructions and process flows in an easily understood manner. Discipline leads to consistency in terms of reduced variability by reducing human errors. Visual management acts to achieve another function, job facilitation that relieves people's effort, both physical and psychological, on routine work by providing

them with sufficient aids. By using visual clues, wastes in terms of waiting, unnecessary movement and searching for products can be eliminated (ibid.).

2.7 Six Sigma (DMAIC)

Six Sigma was developed in the late 1980's within Motorola's Communications Division in order to handle customer complaints regarding warranty claims and focusing on reducing unwanted variation (Barney, 2002; Bergman and Klefsjö, 2010). Since then Six Sigma has been widely spread around the world and is today common in several different industries and companies. Schroeder et. al (2007) have developed a definition on what Six Sigma is, based on interviews with several organizations working with it. It is clear that different organizations might have various definitions on what Six Sigma is, based on their own operations and in what way Six Sigma is applied. Although, the purposed definition developed by Schroeder et. al (2007) goes: "Six Sigma is an organized, parallel-meso structure to reduce variation in organizational processes by using improvement specialists, a structured method, and performance metrics with the aim of achieving strategic objectives."

In Six Sigma, a structured method called DMAIC (Define, Measure, Analyze, Improve and Control) is used for members of a project to follow to solve problems and improve processes. Following a structured method helps the project team to not jump into conclusions and helps ensure a wide search of alternative solutions among the way (Schroeder et al. 2007). Lokkerbol and de Mast (2012) claims that DMAIC functions as a problem structuring device that breaks down a problem into subtasks within the DMAIC-cycle into deliverables. By doing this, the user finds a strategy for analyzing and solving a problem, and thus structure it up by hand.

The different stages of the cyclic process DMAIC have some similarities to the Plan-Do-Check-Act (PDCA) cycle and includes several tools that are commonly used, such as the Seven Improvement Tools and the Seven Management Tools. These include, among others, control chart, histogram, scatter plot and interrelation graph, all with the prime function to structure and analyze numerical and verbal information (Bergman and Klefsjö 2010). The define stage focuses on defining the problem and creating a project plan where the inputs to the problem (X's) and outputs (Y's) are described and approved by the project team. This includes mapping the process and its customers, both internal and external, and planning for the project execution. The measure stage continues by getting to understand the current state of the process by collecting reliable data that will be used to expose the underlying causes of the problems. The data is used to set a current state value stream map that confirms the current process flow. The data collection can consist of both quantitative and qualitative data depending on the problem. The analyze stage is where the data collected in the measure stage is analyzed to generate theories that explain potential causes to the problem. Data charts are used that show the link between the process inputs (Xs) and the critical outputs (Ys). In the improve stage, solutions are developed that will be able to solve the problems with the inputs that affect the outputs. The solutions are evaluated and optimized and a "to be" value stream map is developed. The solutions get tested in a pilot testing to document the new data created and whether the solutions are working accordingly to the plan. When this is done, a preparation for a full-scale implementation is made. Finally, the control stage is where the project is completed by handing over the improved process to the process owner including procedures for maintaining the gains.

The documentation that is handed over usually includes before and after data, control documents, a system for monitoring the solutions implemented and completed project documentation (George el al. 2005). It is important to know that the DMAIC cycle is an iterative process where the project team always should be ready to be able to jump between the stages when new data and findings has appeared.

2.8 Theory of constraints

Theory of constraints (TOC) was a concept developed by Eli Goldratt in the 1980's and the concept about how to improve and manage how a system constraint performs in the context of the whole system (Cox and Schleier, 2010). TOC can be described as looking at systems and processes as a chain, where the chain is not stronger than its weakest link. Even though the system or process is improved, but the weakest link is still the same the overall result will not be improved.

When applying TOC, the first task is to understand the system, its goal and measurements. When having this knowledge, you are able to adapt the five steps (Cox and Schleier, 2010):

- 1. Identify the constraints.
- 2. Decide how to exploit the constraints.
- 3. Subordinate/synchronize everything else to constraints.
- 4. If needed, elevate the system's constraint.
- 5. If the constraint has been broken, go back to step 1.

TOC looks at a system with the eyes of cause-and-effect logic and focuses on managing the system constraints, interdependencies and variability (Cox and Schleier, 2010).

3 Methodology

This study has been conducted as a case study with both qualitative and quantitative analysis. The study has adopted Six Sigma and its DMAIC approach to structure the collection and analysis of the data. This method was chosen due to the characteristics of the present study, which contained a significant amount of quantitative data. The Six Sigma methodology has several tools to be use for this kind of data and which makes it a good approach. The following chapter describes the methods and tools used to conduct this case study and the risk factors involved.

3.1 How the study was performed

Figure 2 describes how the study was performed in order to fulfil the purpose with the study and to answer the research questions. Step 3 and step 4 has been an iterative process where the data collection has been done on questionings arising from the mapping process, see Figure 2.



Figure 2 – Overall illustration that describes how the study was performed

Step 1: Define study

The first step was to define the goals with the study. This was done through interviews with the different stakeholders within the study in order to set a clear goal, defined research questions and set delimitations of the scope. A project plan was developed with time limits for the different upcoming steps.

Step 2: Qualitative data gathering

When the scope was set an initial data gathering was done to get a picture of the process as it is today. This was made through semi-structured interviews to get a picture of the organizational structure around the process. By observations at the coolant filling station an understanding of how the operators and the filling equipment perform their operations was developed. A study visit to Volvo Group Tuve plant was done to get a picture of how a coolant filling process was done in other contexts.

Step 3: Quantitative data gathering

Quantitative data were gathered in three ways. First, unprocessed raw-data from the filling equipment were gathered to get statistics on lead times from the process. To dig deeper and to see the actual filling process, pressure measurements were performed on the expansion tank while executing the equipment filling process.

Step 4: Current state mapping

The first part of the purpose with the study was to map the capacity of today. By using the gathered data, the current state was mapped. Several mapping tools were used to bring a detailed picture of the as-is performance of today.

Step 5: Analysis and improvement discussion

When the mapping had been performed, an analysis of the current state was done in cooperation with the regarded units at Volvo. Discussions on general findings of the current state and development of improvement efforts were discussed and examined.

Step 6: Future state map

After developing suggestions for improvement, a future state map was created. This includes the implemented improvement suggestions and an estimated maximum filling volume.

Step 7: Future work and conclusion

The final step was a conclusion upon the work performed within the study and the results achieved. At last, the research questions were answered.

3.2 Data collection

Both qualitative and quantitative data was collected through the study and the research strategy therefore has a mixed methods approach (Bryman and Bell, 2011).

Qualitative data gathering

The methods used in this chapter have been a part of the qualitative data gathering.

Observations - walk the process

Liker and Hoseus (2008) explains how looking at graphs and collected data is not enough to get the whole picture of a process and its occurring problems. By walking the process, and observing a production cell, things that are not visual in graphs can be found such as waste, how operators follow standardized routines and the use of visual management. To be able to get to know the actual filling process and how machines and operators integrate with each other

it is crucial to observe the process. Observation of the process was done through several visits to the factory and the station. Observations were conducted both together with representatives from different departments and individual visits by the study group. During the observations notes were taken and different areas were observed, such as process times, team boards, equipment controllers and product specifications.

Interviews

Interviews is a prominent data collection strategy in both qualitative and quantitative research. A semi-structured interview is a type of interview where the interviewer has a set of questions prepared in advance but where he is able to be flexible and ask follow-up questions based on the responses and the interviewee's perceived knowledge about the station (Bryman and Bell, 2011).

Interviews were conducted with employees involved in the coolant filling process from ME, R&D and the tooling division, see Table 2. In the define phase, the purpose with the interviews were to get a picture of how the different departments are involved in the coolant filling process, to define the problem statement and to get to know the coolant filling process. The interviews were semi-structured since the interviewee's backgrounds and knowledges differ depending on their role, which caused the follow-up questions to be slightly different. The main questions from the semi-structured interviews can be found in Appendix I. The interviews had the purpose of creating an understanding on how the organizational structure is built around the coolant filling station. It was essential to know how different divisions work towards the station and how they interact between each other.

The interviews were held in Swedish due to the interviewees main language. To analyze the information gathered in the interviews, the information was coded to identify themes among the responds (Bryman and Bell, 2011). The information was used to create the problem statement and create an organizational structure to identify the information flow between the departments.

Table 2 - Data on performed interviews

Interviewee Title	Division	Date
Commodity Engineer	ME	22/1 2018
Commodity Engineer	ME	22/1 2018
Commodity Engineer	ME	22/1 2018
System Commodity Engineer	ME	24/1 2018
Manager Powertrain Installation	ME	1/2 2018
Manufacturing Engineer	ME Core	1/2 2018
Product Development Engineer	R&D Outer Cooling	5/2 2018
Equipment Engineer	Tooling	6/2 2018
Senior Project Manager Equipment	Tooling	6/2 2018
Industrial Engineer	Industrial Engineering	9/2 2018

SIPOC

A SIPOC diagram (supplier-input-process-output-customer) is a process mapping tool used to highlight critical information in a study's early stage. It helps the research team and it's sponsors to agree on the scope and boundaries of the project and that the outputs of a process match the inputs (George et al., 2005). Depending on the process the supplier and customer can be both internal or external customers. Creating a SIPOC is best done by a team with widespread knowledges of the process so that the essential outputs and customer requirements won't be missed. It is filled out by first deciding on what the output is. Then deciding on who the customer is. Then the actual process is defined and named. Next, the input to the process is identified and at last, the supplier of the input is examined (Hammersberg, 2017). The sequence of filling the SIPOC diagram is illustrated in Table 3.

Table 3 – SIPOC structure, numbering corresponds to the order of the steps when constructing a SIPOC

5	4	3	1	2
Supplier	Input	Process	Output	Customer

In this study a SIPOC was constructed in the define phase to determine the process outputs and inputs. The data for the SIPOC was gathered through observations and interviews.

Quantitative Data collection

The methods used in this chapter have been a part of the quantitative data gathering.

Process Logs

In VCT there is a server that saves log entries from different equipment lines, which includes log-data from the coolant filling station and its equipment. This server's datafiles are reachable from within the Volvo network and the log-files are continuously updated. The log files cover the different equipment activities and also the interactions from operators that trigger sensor changes. The log files consist of every log entry sent from the line and equipment, which can cause a problem when analyzing a specific process. In this study Python and Microsoft Excel was used to filter out the relevant data from the raw data. The time stamps filtered out along with the corresponding event occurring at the given time stamp from the log-file were analyzed by visualizing the data and split the data up into different categories.

Pressure testing

To evaluate the process steps within the equipment cycle, pressure testing in the expansion tank was performed. The pressure testing is a method that has been developed in-house by R&D and similar studies on equipment filling and pressure testing has been made by Mali (2016). R&D has provided the study with some less accurate pressure measurements from earlier studies. Since evacuation-filling is based on pressurizing the system, this measurement method is a good way to identify how the filling is performed.

The pressure testing was performed with a pressure sensor and a measurement PC-software. The pressure sensor was mounted with a custom hose that extends the expansion hose from the expansion tank, as seen in Figure 3.



Figure 3 - Pressure measurement setup, illustrating expansion tank while measurement equipment is mounted (during measurement) and expansion tank without measurement equipment (normal)

The data obtained from a pressure measurement consist of pressure values (bar) and the corresponding time value. The measurements were performed at 10 Hz and all data was exported to an Excel-file. From the raw data a pressure-time line plot was drawn. The different process steps were identified by matching the time stamps from the process monitor with the pressure measurement graph.

Value Stream Mapping

Value stream mapping (VSM) is a rather simple but efficient tool for mapping a product flow. VSM takes both information and material flow into consideration. It has a primary focus on decreasing lead times, minimizing waste and what activities that are value-adding (Rother and Shook, 2003). As described by Locher (2008) a VSM should be conducted in 4 steps; preparation, current state mapping, future state mapping and implementation. The most significant importance is to map the current state in a detailed way, so it can be improved according to the shared vision for the process flow. The VSM traditionally follows one product and defines the different value-adding and non-value adding activities in the flow. Identification of future improvements can preferably be made by identifying the different types of waste in the process (Locher, 2008).

In this study a VSM was used to map the process, by identifying the different process steps. The current state VSM showed the activities performed and their time utilization. From this it could be found whether the activities were value- or non-value-adding. By making a future state VSM in the end of the study the effects on taken improvement actions was visualized.

Data stratification and distribution analysis

The data that has been collected during this study is considered to be primary data, which are data collected upon the actual case of this study. The use of primary data gives the study a high trustworthiness, where conclusions are based on data of the specific situation that is investigated.

When evaluating a set of data, regarding lead times within the coolant filling process received from the process monitoring, an analysis is required to find the proper lead times for the current state VSM. In activities performed by operators there might be variations due to various reasons such as random events, new operators, different operators and so on. To analyze the data and its distribution and finding the overall mean times of the operator times boxplots were used. Boxplots provided an instant picture of variation and might give insight into strategies for finding what caused the variation (George el al. 2012).



Figure 4 - Box plot, arrows and notations describing the different part of a box plot.

A boxplot, see Figure 4, comprises the data into what the name says; a box. Inside the box 50% of the data set, the 2nd and 3rd quartiles, is shown. Outside the box the rest of the data is shown by "whiskers" which is a single-line that is above or below the 2nd and 3rd quartile. Outliers is shown as separate markers. Times outside the box can be deviating from the standard operating procedure due to break or disturbance in the production. The times inside the box are therefore used for the current state VSM. The box plots were created with the statistics software JMP Pro.

Regression modelling is a method that can be used to identify patterns and predict process outcomes, by analyzing the function Y = f(x), (Rhinehart, 2016). For example, to determine the volume (Y) and how it is dependent of the time (x). One can with a large data set predict the function f(x) to estimate Y. In this study the estimated volume for a specific process time will be calculated with the following linear equation;

Volume = a + b * process time

The variables a and b are determined from the data set using the prediction modelling method in JMP Pro.

However, as Rhinehart (2016) also mentions it can be hard to determine which type of model to use for a prediction and which data points that represent the whole population in an appropriate way without bringing to complex data into the regression model. As mentioned above a validation of a data set using box plots can be helpful for prediction modeling.

3.3 Ethical consideration

According to Bryman and Bell (2011) there are four main areas regarding ethics that need to be taken into consideration when conducting a research involving humans. These four areas are harm to participants, lack of informed consent, invasion of privacy and deception. Harm to participants can involve different types of harm, from physical harm to harming a participant's

self-esteem or career opportunities. Avoiding harming the participating people within the scope of the study will be done by letting them be fully anonymous if this is wanted. The second area is the lack of informed consent, which is about not giving the whole background information of the study such as scope and reason to conducting the research. Avoiding this will be done by always giving a participant information on what the study is about, why it is done and what their role might be in it. Linked to this is the invasion of privacy aspect, which due to the degree of informed consent can vary the perception of privacy. The last aspect, deception, is about giving readers another picture of the research than what it is. Overall in this research, a high level of transparency towards people coming across the study have been of high importance to obtain a high ethical level without harming participants.

4 Results

This section presents the results of the data collected as well as suggested improvements upon the results.

4.1 Organizational structure

An important part of defining a project is to define the different people involved in the process, as mentioned by Damelio (2011). Through the semi-structured interviews held, information was gathered regarding collaborations in between different units an organizational chart has been constructed, Figure 5. The main departments within this study are ME, R&D and Tooling. The organizational chart, see figure 5, shows the representatives from each department that has been involved in this study. ME Cooling installation provides the coolant filling process with work instructions containing process times for the operations that needs to be performed on the production line. ME Cooling installations work is mostly concentrated to manual labor and does not include more than a machining time for the equipment. The difference between ME Cooling installation and ME Core is that ME Core is working in earlier stages of projects. R&D provides both Tooling and ME with technical instruction and requirements that need to be fulfilled. The technical requirement contains information about quality targets that needs to be archived, for example the level of coolant fluid in the system after the filling process is concluded. Tooling are responsible to purchase, operate and maintain equipment according to technical requirements from R&D. Industrial Engineering (IE), Process Engineering is a production technician that works closely to the production line with continuous improvement projects and securing the daily drift.



Figure 5 - Organizational chart

What was concluded from the interviews among the ME and Tooling workers, was that they experienced that the technical requirements from R&D could be delivered at any time and also that these requirements could be required to be implemented right away. This could result in problems due to that ME and Tooling need to make fast decisions and implement new solutions right away, without the needed time to explore options to meet the requirements.

What was also observed during this study was that the responsibility areas surrounding the coolant filling station are to a great extent divided into the different departments. It is unclear if there is anyone who has an overall knowledge and responsibility over the coolant filling station. Responsibilities and knowledges are divided among the departments depending on characteristics of task. This goes against the statement made by Liker and Hoseus (2008) who claims that to be able to improve a process it is important to fully understand it.

4.2 SIPOC

Table 4 – SIPOC process map

Supplier	Inputs	Process	Output	Customers
Previous	Production	Car arrives	Filled fluid tank	Next station
station	schedule			
		Operator pulls	Equipment	End customer
Fluid	Empty fluid tank	string	measurement	
supplier			data	
(fluid	Requirements	Equipment goes		
machinery)		down	Line	
	Coolant fluid		measurement	
		Mount hose	data	
	Software			
		Filling		
	Operators work			
		Dismount hose		
		Equipment goes up		
		Equipment return		

The input and output of the station is illustrated in a SIPOC, Table 4. The SIPOC was developed after the interviews to get a good picture of people involved in the study as well as the process in a large scope. The SIPOC is a rather simple input and output process in the sense of products. A non-filled car enters the station and the output should be a filled car. However, an important output of the station is the data acquired by the process monitor, for both the equipment and the manual work. The process steps are described in more detail in Chapter 4.3.

4.3 Station layout



Figure 6 - Station layout, VCT line 1:42 seen from above. Illustrating the station and the equipment placement.

The coolant filling station (1:42 in VCT) is illustrated with a view from above in Figure 6. The station layout is based on the observations at the production line and was constructed by upon the findings. The coolant filling station contains four filling equipment (C1-C4) mounted in the roof following the cars above them. The scenario in the figure could be a real setting where one equipment is idle (C4), one is assembled (C3), one is filling (C2) and the last one is returning to its home position (C1). This station, including the operators and the equipment, was defined as the Overall process within this study.

According to the held interviews the station has four filling equipment but is calculated to be able to run on three of these. The reason to why there are four equipment is to be able to run the operations if one breaks down or needs maintenance. The takt time is 58,2 seconds and the cycle time for three equipment is 174,6 seconds. The line speed is 0,103 m/s and the return speed of the equipment is 0,667 m/s.

The following section describes the different steps performed along the line and are indicated by the letters A-F in Figure 6.

- A. The equipment moves along a rail mounted above the car in the roof, parallel to the line. The equipment's starting position is placed right before the start of the actual station. The equipment returns to the idle-station when finished processing a car and waits until the next car arrives.
- B. When a car arrives at the station, an idle equipment starts to move along the car. From this point an operator can initiate the first process step by pulling a string (Arm up/down string in Figure 7). The equipment arm (Equipment arm in Figure 7) goes down to operating position. Further on, the operator takes the nozzle (Hose with nozzle in Figure 7) from the equipment arm and places it on the expansion tank (Expansion tank in Figure 7). The filling sequence is then initiated when the operator pushes the start button located on top of the nozzle.
- C. The car and corresponding equipment moves along the line, while performing the filling sequence.
- D. The equipment alerts the second operator with help of a blinking light and an audio signal when the filling sequence is completed. The second operator then pushes the stop button and places the nozzle in the nozzle holder and pushes a button on the equipment arm that retrieves the it.

- E. When the equipment arm reaches its top position, the equipment changes direction and starts to move back along the rails to the idle position at the start of the station.
- F. Finished filled car is handed over to the next station.

In addition to the activities described above, the operators do perform some other assembling operations that is performed during and after the filling process.

Figure 7 illustrates a side view with a mounted nozzle on the expansion tank, which is a snapshot of the process at letter C in Figure 6.



Figure 7 - Illustration of equipment filling car at station 1:42 in VCT

To emphasize data evaluation and deeper understanding in the process the station has been split up into smaller process steps. The following list describes the process steps and refers back to where the specific process step is happening along the line in Figure 6 (indicated by (#) where # corresponds to the lettering).

- Car arrival (A) From the point where the equipment starts to move along a car until operator pulls the strap to initiate the equipment arm to go down.
- Arm going down (B) Operator pulls string to initiate the equipment arm to go down and waits until it has reached its bottom position and is ready to provide the operator with the nozzle.
- Arm down to nozzle taken (B) Time from equipment arm is down until the operator takes the nozzle out of its holder.

- Mount nozzle (B) Operator takes the nozzle from the nozzle holder and mounts it to the expansion tank and starts the filling sequence by pushing the start button on the nozzle.
- Equipment filling process (C) From operator pushing the start button until equipment has finished the filling sequence and signaling with light and audio.
- Filling finished to dismount (C) From the equipment filling process is finished until the operator starts dismount the nozzle by pushing the stop button.
- Dismount nozzle (D) Operator pushing stop button and dismounts the nozzle. Placing the nozzle in the nozzle holder on the equipment arm.
- Nozzle returned to arm going up (D) Time from operator has returned the nozzle in the holder until button pressed signaling the equipment to retrieve the arm to the top position.
- Arm going up (D) Time for equipment arm to move from bottom to top position.
- Equipment returning (E) Time for equipment to return back to the start (to the idle station)

4.4 Cooling system architecture

The cooling systems are different depending on the type of motor system. Currently both petrol (VEP) and diesel (VED) engine vehicles are produced. Some of the systems also have an electric motor in addition to a petrol engine, which means that it is a hybrid vehicle. The hybrid cooling systems have a larger volume than the non-hybrid cooling systems. The motor systems can also be of different, ranging in power and addons like heaters. All these variations cause the coolant systems to have a varying volume and complexity.

To simplify this study the variety of cooling systems used today can be categorized into two groups. In the following chapters the hybrid cars will be referred to as large systems, approximately 13 liters, and the non-hybrid cars as small systems, approximately 9 liters.

4.5 Equipment filling process

The four equipment are purchased from the equipment manufacturer Agramkow but are fully owned and operated by Volvo. Therefore, Tooling has the ability to change the parameters within the equipment. The equipment is controlled by an equipment control system. In the equipment controller panel at the station a set of input parameters can be set to control the equipment process, see Appendix II. The parameters can be divided into different categories;

- Time parameters executes an operation for set time or a waiting for a set time.
- Pressure parameters target pressures or safety levels, which a process step should archive or stop at if exceeded.

The equipment filling process can be broken down into smaller process steps. From the process monitor, meetings with Tooling representatives and observations at the production line the following equipment filling process steps has been defined;

- Initiating fastening nozzle griper to expansion tank
- Evacuation 1 evacuate air from the system to a predefined vacuum pressure, targeting 40 mBar.
- Vacuum test perform a check that the desired vacuum pressure is reached and ensure no leakages occurred.
- Evacuation 2 perform one more vacuum suction to ensure that the predefines vacuum pressure is still reached.
- Filling initially, the equipment uses the under-pressure created in the cooling system to inject the liquid. When the system is reaching atmospheric pressure, the equipment forces liquid into the system until an over-pressure of 1.5 bar is reached. In this stage, the system is top-filled.
- Pressure test ensures that the over-pressure is stable to determine that there are no leakages in the system.
- Leveling due to the system being top-filled, in the leveling phase the equipment sucks liquid out of the system and dropping the pressure to around 1 bar. The leveling is controlled by the pressure drop and the nozzle pipe, see Figure 8. The pipe is designed so that it reaches as far into the expansion tank as the required level of 48 mm with a tolerance of ±2 mm, x1 in Figure 9, that is specified in the technical requirement by R&D. This level is a quality requirement, if the level is too low there is a risk of needing to refill the coolant system since the level decreases when the car is driven.



Figure 8 - Equipment nozzle mounted on the expansion tank



Figure 9 - Expansion tank with technical requirement (x1)

4.6 Analyze of overall process

The overall process includes the main process steps within the coolant filling station including both the filling equipment and the operators. Starting with Car arrival and ending with the Equipment returning. The process times acquired from the process monitor are based on one week's production, week 9 in 2018. The sample size is approximately 4000 produced cars. The data contains times for each process step for each produced car.

When regarding the average times for each process step it can be identified which of the process steps that utilize the most amount of time. Figure 10 shows two stacked columns with each process time, illustrating the time for the whole process divided into large systems and small systems.

Overall Process - Process times



Figure 10 - Overall process times, divided by equipment and system type

Appendix III contains the distribution box plots of the times for each process step. Table 5 and 6 contains the times for each process step. The time presented is the average time of data within the box of the boxplots.

Process Step	Time [s]	Variation [±s]	Equipment
Car arrival	15,1	7,1	C1-C4
Arm going down	8	0	C1
	6,7	0	C2
	6,7	0	C3
	6,7	0	C4
Arm down to nozzle taken	5	2,9	C1-C4
Mount nozzle	2,4	0,3	C1
	2,2	0,3	C2
	3	0,4	C3
	3,6	0,5	C4
Equipment filling	70,2	0,5	C1
	76,6	0,7	C2
	75,5	0,6	C3
	75,5	0,6	C4
Filling finished to dismount	31,6	13,2	C1-C4
Dismount nozzle	3,4	0,6	C1
	3,3	0,6	C2
	3,7	0,5	C3
	4,3	0,5	C4
Nozzle returned to arm going up	0,7	0	C1-C4
Arm going up	8,2	0	C1
	6,9	0	C2
	6,9	0	C3
	6,9	0	C4
Equipment return	28,2	1,7	C1-C4

Table 5 -	Overall	process	times for	small system

Process Step	Time [s]	Variation [±s]	Equipment
Car arrival	15,1	6,8	C1-C4
Arm going down	8	0	C1
	6,7	0	C2
	6,7	0	C3
	6,7	0	C4
Arm down to nozzle taken	5,6	2,7	C1-C4
Mount nozzle	2,5	0,5	C1
	2,4	0,4	C2
	2,9	0,3	C3
	3,5	0,5	C4
Equipment filling	88,6	0,3	C1
	96,8	0,4	C2
	95,9	0,3	C3
	94,7	0,4	C4
Filling finished to dismount	14,9	10,7	C1-C4
Dismount nozzle	3,3	0,6	C1
	3,3	0,7	C2
	3,7	0,8	C3
	4,5	1	C4
Nozzle returned to arm going up	2	0	C1-C4
Arm going up	8,2	0	C1
	6,9	0	C2
	6,9	0	C3
	6,9	0	C4
Equipment return	28,9	1,5	C1-C4

Table 6 - Overall process times for large system

The variation is significantly higher on three process times; car arrival, arm down to nozzle taken, and filling finished to dismount. This is due to the mentioned times are highly operator dependent. The operators do perform other operations that aren't associated with the filling process which can cause variations.

The process times indicates that there is a variation between the different equipment. The equipment filling time is remarkable in this aspect, where C1 performs better than the other equipment with a mean time of 70,2 seconds for a small system in contrast to around 76 seconds for equipment C2-C4. The distribution of data points for the equipment filling process, including both small and large systems is visualized in a scatter plot seen in Figure 11.

Variation in mount nozzle and dismount nozzle occur due to the equipment placement, the distance from the equipment arm to the expansion tank differs between the equipment.



Figure 11 - The equipment filling process time for each serial number (each produced car has a unique serial number).

Waiting is one of the seven wastes according to the Lean philosophy (Liker and Hoseus, 2008). Waiting is a major contributor to longer utilization times of the equipment. The following process steps are considered as waiting; car arrival, arm down to nozzle taken, filling finished to dismount. By illustrating the value-adding process steps and the non-value-adding process steps in a simplified VSM, see Figure 12 for small system and Figure 13 for large system. The VSM is based on the process times in Table 5 and 6.



Figure 12 - VSM - Small system



Figure 13 - VSM - Large system

The VSM illustrates the process times (grey boxes) and the waiting times. The processing time for each equipment indicates the performance, which once again shows that C1 performs the process steps faster than C2-C4. The lead time is the total time that one equipment is occupied. By dividing the processing and the lead time the flow efficiency is calculated. The flow efficiency indicates how much of the total time that is utilized by the process steps. As seen, the flow efficiency is in average higher on the larger systems, this due to the waiting times are less on the large systems.

4.7 Analyze of equipment filling process

When analyzing the overall process, it was identified that the equipment filling process is the process step that utilizes the largest share of the total process time. To examine further, the equipment filling process was analyzed separately, through investigating the process steps within the equipment filling process.

Two types of measurements were performed on the equipment filling process; time measurements and pressure measurements. The time measurements are based on the same data sample as the time measurement on the overall process, through data gathering in the process monitor. Figure 14 shows the equipment filling process steps for small and large systems.



Figure 14 - Equipment filling process times, divided by equipment and system type

Table 7 and 8 contains the times for each process step. The time presented is the average time of data within the box of the boxplots, see Appendix IV.

Process Step	Time [s]	Variation [±s]	Equipment
Initiating	5,2	0	C1-C4
Evacuation 1	19,7	0,2	C1
	22,4	0,2	C2
	21	0,2	C3
	21,6	0,2	C4
Vacuum test	2	0	C1-C4
Evacuation 2	2	0	C1-C4
Filling	29,2	0,4	C1
	32,8	0,4	C2
	33,1	0,4	С3
	32	0,4	C4
Pressure test	2	0	C1-C4
Leveling	10	0	C1-C4

Table 7 - Equipment filling process times for small system
Process Step	Time [s]	Variation [±s]	Equipment
Initiating	5,2	0	C1-C4
Evacuation 1	23,8	0,1	C1
	26,7	0,1	C2
	25,2	0,1	C3
	25,5	0,1	C4
Vacuum test	2	0	C1-C4
Evacuation 2	2,2	0,1	C1-C4
Filling	38,3	0,3	C1
	43,6	0,3	C2
	44,1	0,3	C3
	42,7	0,3	C4
Pressure test	2	0	C1-C4
Leveling	15	0	C1-C4

Table 8 - Equipment filling process times for large system

The variation in the equipment process times is overall small or none at all. However, there is some variation in Evacuation 1 and Filling. This variation origins in the variety of cooling systems, as mentioned in Chapter 4.4. The measurement proves the thesis that the variation is small and that the systems can be categorized into large and small systems.

There is a number of input parameters in the equipment controller, see raw input data for the equipment controller in Appendix II. These inputs have been divided into controllable (C) and standard operating procedure (SOP) (Hammersberg, 2017). In this case, the controllable inputs are time considered to be set to a fixed value that can be changed without affecting the quality and performance of the output of the equipment filling process. The SOP-inputs are considered not to be changeable since those inputs are controlled by set target limits to be reached and are only affected by the design of the cooling system. The following, table 9, shows which of the times that can be regarded as controllable (C), where a change can be made, and standard operating procedure (SOP).

Table 9 - Categorization of equipment filling process times by controllable (C) and standard operating procedure (SOP)

	С	SOP
Initiating	х	
Evacuation 1		х
Vacuum test	х	
Evacuation 2	х	
Filling		x
Pressure test	х	
Leveling	х	

Initiating, vacuum test, evacuation 2, pressure test and leveling are all controllable factors that are executed for a predefined time in the process controller. Evacuation 1 and Filling are standard operating procedures that are executed based on a target pressure value and system volume and are therefore controlled by the type of system that is filled.

4.8 Pressure Measurement

To evaluate the equipment filling process, further pressure measurements has been performed. The pressure measurement data is gathered from 18 different cars by attaching a measurement equipment to the expansion tank. All four filling equipment has been covered in the measurement. At least two measurements have been performed on each equipment at separate occasions. The result of the measurement is pressure-time graphs that indicates the pressure change in the equipment filling process. By matching the timestamps from the process monitor and the corresponding pressure measurement graph for a specific car, the different steps can be visualized. Figure 15 shows one example of a pressure measurement, with process steps indicated.



Figure 15 - Pressure measurement with time stamps (markers) indicating the start of each process step within the equipment filling process.



Figure 16 - Result of pressure measurements performed at line 1:42 in VCT. Color coded by equipment (C1-C4).

In Figure 16 all the pressure measurements are shown. The different colors indicate which equipment it corresponds to. As seen in Figure 16 there is a difference in performance between the equipment. It can also be identified, from the process monitoring, that the different equipment performs differently.

To be able to recognize where the equipment differs in detail, the different process steps has been plotted separately. This illustrates variation in a clearer way than illustrating the complete measurement in one graph and makes comparisons of the systems and equipment more convenient. Through the interviews performed and the meetings held with R&D and Tooling, each process step has been discussed and possible factors that can be changed has been identified.

Initiating phase

The initiating phase has a fixed-time in the equipment controller of five seconds for all equipment. During this time the nozzle gripper needs to fasten to the expansion tank. Observations at the production line has showed that this is done in one second, which indicates that there is room for improvements.

Evacuation 1



Figure 17 - Evacuation 1 process step from pressure measurement

The Evacuation 1 for the different equipment is illustrated in Figure 17, where the time when it is done is indicated by a marker. Factors that according to R&D and Tooling affect the time it takes to evacuate a system is the volume and complexity of the cooling system. In this case the focus is to determine a process step time for a large system and small system. The process has a target value, to reach below 40 mbar before executing the next step (vacuum test), this has been confirmed by R&D to be a correct level to avoid quality defects.

As seen in Figure 17 and Table 7 and 8 there are variations between the equipment. Equipment C1 performs evacuation faster than the rest. According to the performed measurements, the time it takes to evacuate a system is mostly affected by the systems volume, the different equipment are stable, and the evacuation times do not differ from one time to another.

Vacuum test

The vacuum test is a fixed-time of two seconds in the equipment controller. According to Tooling this is time dependent because of that the system needs to stabilize to be able to measure if the pressure is steady. The vacuum test is stable across all equipment and system types.

Evacuation 2

Evacuation 2 is performed to ensure that the vacuum pressure is still at 40 mbar. As seen in Table 7 and 8, evacuation 2 takes about two seconds for both small and large systems and can be considered as controllable.

Filling



Figure 18 - Filling process step from pressure measurement

The filling cycle, see Figure 18, as well as evacuation 1, mainly depend on the volume of the system. Comparing the different equipment in the pressure-time graphs and the measurement data in table 7 and 8, it has been identified that C1 is performing better than the other three equipment.

As seen in Figure 18 the pressure is stable for more than 5 seconds in the end of the filling sequence. This is due to a fixed parameter in the equipment controller.

Pressure test

The pressure test is performed in the same way as the previous mentioned vacuum test, see above for details.

Leveling



Figure 19 - Leveling process step from pressure measurement

The leveling time is a fixed time, it is 10 seconds for small systems and 15 seconds for large systems. Both times, for small and large system could be shortened, as seen in Figure 19 the pressure reaches a stable pressure earlier than 10 seconds for small systems and 15 seconds for large systems.

From observations at the production line it has been identified that the liquid level is stable after about five seconds from initiating the leveling phase.

4.9 Improving the process

According to Bergman and Klefsjö (2010) about eliminating waste with a lean approach the current state VSM can be evaluated and waste can be eliminated. The waiting times from the current state VSM are the following; car arrival, arm down to nozzle taken and filling finished to dismount. Due to the fact that operators need to walk between different cars the process times for car arrival and filling finished to dismount are not set to 0 seconds. Table 10 suggest the new times to be applied in the future state VSM for the above-mentioned waiting times.

Process Step	Current state time [s]	Future state time [s]
Car arrival	15,1	2
Arm down to nozzle taken	5	0
Filling finished to dismount	31,6	3
Nozzle returned to arm going up	0,7	0,7

To be able to decrease the waiting times, developing a visual management onto the station is suggested (Tezel, Koskela and Tzortzopoulos, 2016). Visual management was implemented at the brake fluid station in VCT, from where inspiration have been gathered. It is suggested

to mount screens onto each equipment that is easily viewed by the operators and contain the following information:

- When the equipment is idle the screen indicates when the current equipment will start to move along with a car using a time countdown. This is to give the operator sufficient information on when the operator needs to be ready to pull the string and thereby being able to do it within two seconds from the equipment is starting to move.
- When the string has been pulled, the operator should stay in position and immediately mount the nozzle and start the filling. From the data analysis and observations, it is proven that this is done at some times, while at other the operator pulls the string and then walks to perform other tasks which results in waiting times.
- When the filling has started the screen should show every process step of the filling including a countdown that indicates on how much time is left until the process is done. As before, this would serve as an aid towards the operator to be able to be in place to dismount the nozzle within three seconds. The audio and light signal used today should be improved with a clearer light and louder audio signal.

Through observations and interviews with the operators at the station it has been determined that the stress level on the station can be high. This is due to that equipment process is hard to monitor while performing other assembling activities. Visual management gives the operators the opportunity to have a better overview of the ongoing equipment filling process. This might have a positive impact on the social sustainability on the station, by decreasing the stress level.

The next step in optimizing the station for the future state, the equipment filling process should be optimized. Considering the pressure-time graphs and the collected data it has been identified that the process steps are currently controlled by an input in the process controller. The following improvements can be made on the equipment process:

- *Shorten the initiating step to 2 seconds* The initiating step improvement is based in the pressure measurement and the time measurement of the nozzle gripper fastening on the expansion tank. Due to the equipment is idle waiting to execute evacuation 1 after the gripper has fastened on the expansion tank the time can be shortened to 2 seconds without risk of nozzle gripper failure.
- Shorten the waiting time from filling pressure achieved until pressure test starting from 5 seconds to 0 seconds. According to R&D and Tooling this time could be changed without compromising the quality of the operation. A previous measurement gathering performed by R&D in the Volvo plant in Ghent, Belgium, confirms this possible improvement. The more optimized equipment in Ghent don't have a delay after reaching the target pressure, instead the pressure test is performed right away.
- Shorten leveling from 15 and 10 seconds to 5 seconds. Observations of the leveling in VCT indicates that the targeted level is archived after 5 seconds. The pressure measurement also indicate that the pressure has reached 1 bar and is stable after 5 seconds. Onwards, the pressure is stable until the current ending after 10 seconds for

small systems and 15 seconds for large systems. The leveling step could be set to 5 seconds for all systems.

As a result of the suggested improvements, a pressure-time graph has been developed, see Figure 20.



Figure 20 - Optimized pressure-time graph on the equipment filling process

As seen in Figure 20, by removing the waiting times the equipment filling process time is significantly shorter. From about 78 seconds to 62 seconds, a 16 seconds gain on small system. The target pressures in evacuation 1 and filling are still reached.

To be able to estimate a maximum filling volume some pre-calculations are needed. The maximum time for Evacuation 1 and Filling needs to be determined. In table 11 the maximum cycle time per equipment was calculated, by knowing the line speed of 0.103 m/s and equipment return speed of 0.667 m/s. Table 11 shows the result for both three equipment, as the current setup is, but also the result for four equipment. According to interviews with Tooling there is a possibility to invest in an additional equipment without rebuilding the whole line, which would increase the machinery capacity (Lödding and Rossi, 2013). Therefore, a calculation with four running equipment has been included. As have been mentioned earlier in Chapter 4.3, three equipment in this case are four equipment in total, where all four are used but the production can still pursue if one breaks down.

Table 11 - Maximum allowed cycle time and travel distance for three and four equipment

Number of equipments	3	4
Max cycle time/equipment [s]	174,6	232,8
Distance before returning [m]	15,6	20,8
Equipment forward [s]	151,2	201,7
Equipment return [s]	23,4	31,1

Knowing the maximum cycle time for one equipment and subtracting the total time used for all other activities, except Evacuation 1 and Filling, the maximum times for Evacuation 1 and Filling for three and four equipment was calculated, see table 12.

[s]	C1	C2	C3	C4	C1	C2	C3	C4
Number of equipments		3				4	1	
Car arrival	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Arm going down	8	6,7	6,7	6,7	8	6,7	6,7	6,7
Mount nozzle	2,4	2,2	3	3,6	2,4	2,2	3	3,6
Initiating	5,2	5,2	5,2	5,2	5,2	5,2	5,2	5,2
Evacuation 1								
Vacuum test	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Evacuation 2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Filling								
Pressure test	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Leveling	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5
Filling finished to dismount	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Return nozzle	3,4	3,3	3,7	3,7	3,4	3,3	3,7	3,7
Nozzle returned to arm going up	0,7	0,7	0,7	0,7	0,7	0,7	0,7	0,7
Arm going up	8,2	6,9	6,9	6,9	8,2	6,9	6,9	6,9
Equipment return	23,4	23,4	23,4	23,4	31,1	31,1	31,1	31,1
Max cycle time	174,6	174,6	174,6	174,6		232,8	232,8	232,8
Evacuation 1 and filling	107,3	110,2	109	108,4	157,8	160,7	159,5	158,9

Table 12 - Evacuation 1 and Filling (total time for both process steps) calculation, Evacuation 1 and Filling = Max cycle time - sum of all other process steps

4.10 Estimate filling volume

To estimate and determine process times for Evacuation 1 and Filling separately, linear prediction models were used. As seen in Appendix V the measurement data for each equipment has been analyzed with a linear approximation. The result from this models are 8 linear functions, one for each Evacuation 1 in each equipment and one for each Filling in each equipment. The equations estimate the volume for a given time. The function is as follow and the values for a, b are shown in Table 13.

$$Volume = a + b * Filling Time (1)$$
$$Volume = a + b * Evacuation 1 Time (2)$$

Table 13 - a and b for equation (1) and (2), for evacuation 1 and filling for each equipment

	а	b
C1 - evacuation 1	-9,099	0,939
C1 - filling	-2,985	0,424
C2 - evacuation 1	-8,035	0,763
C2 - filling	-1,753	0,332
C3 - evacuation 1	-9,828	0,898
C3 - filling	-1,813	0,330
C4 - evacuation 1	-11,112	0,938
C4 - filling	-2,018	0,349

Using the maximum cycle time calculations and the Evacuation 1 and Filling time (Table 12) together with the estimation functions in Table 13 a maximum filling volume was estimated for each equipment. Calculations were made on a scenario with three respectively four running equipment, see Table 14.

Table 14 - Estimated maximum volume calculation, based on equation (1) and (2) and the total evacuation 1 and filling time from Table 12

	C1	C2	C3	C4	C1	C2	C3	C4
Number of equipments		3				4	Ļ	
Max cycle time [s]	174,6	174,6	174,6	174,6	232,8	232,8	232,8	232,8
Evacuation 1 and filling [s]	107,3	110,2	109,0	108,4	157,8	160,7	159,5	158,9
Filling [s]	69,4	71,0	73,2	72,0	104,2	106,2	110,1	108,8
Evacuation 1 [s]	37,9	39,2	35,8	36,4	53,6	54,5	49,4	50,1
Estimated max volume [I]	26,4	21,8	22,3	23,1	41,2	33,5	34,5	35,9

As seen in Table 14 C2 has the lowest maximum filling volume of 21,8 liter. Applying the theory of constraints (Cox and Schleier, 2010), it is concluded that C2 is the constraint at the coolant filling station. Since a system is not stronger than its weakest link, the coolant filling station should be planned upon capacity of C2.

The future state VSM, see Figure 21, is based on the capacity of C2, with a filling volume of 21,8 liter and the improvement suggestions where the waiting times have been eliminated.



Figure 21 - VSM - Future state, based on 21,8 liter

When comparing the current and future state VSM, the main difference is shortened waiting times and increased flow efficiency. Process time and lead time differ less and as a result the flow efficiency is significantly higher in the future state. Due to the more efficient flow the return time for the equipment has been shortened.

To visualize the suggested improvements even further Figure 22 shows a comparison in overall process time for a small system, with the process without improvements on the left column and with improvements suggestions on the right column. This indicates that with the improvement suggestions the current small system could be processed on the station in about 100 seconds in comparison to around 180 seconds as it is today.



Figure 22 - Comparison process time for small system, without (left) and with (right) improvement suggestions

5 Discussion

The background to why this study was executed was the knowledge of that the first fully electric cars will start being produced in the upcoming years. There has been a common knowledge that the cooling systems of these cars will be bigger, since a battery needs more cooling capacity than a diesel or petrol engine. This requires Volvo to adapt the production to fit for the larger cooling systems, and the questioning have been whether the existing station including its layout and machinery will be able to fill the future cooling volumes. This section contains discussions on the results and learnings from the study as well as how Volvo can benefit from this study and take the work even further.

5.1 Discussions on the result

The study has been successful in terms of mapping the station and creating an understanding of how it works. Parameters have been identified that affect the output of the station, the volume to be filled.

The capability of a process is its ability to produce an outcome within set tolerances (Bergman and Klefsjö, 2010). The machinery capability of the coolant filling stations' equipment has been evaluated and the results indicate that variation occur between the different equipment. All the equipment are programmed with the same input parameters and the variation in performance might occur due to variation in quality. This variation has not been evaluated during this study. The different equipment has been purchased in different occasions, which could mean that the variation occur due to that the supplier has delivered equipment with quality differences. Another potential cause could be that rework or maintenance has been performed by Volvo, which has caused differences in components within the different equipment. This is suggested to be further evaluated, perhaps by involving the supplier.

When analyzing the current state VSM, it was identified that waiting times from the operators had the largest impact on the equipment lead times. To be able to eliminate the wastes, as suggested, by using visual management as an aid for the operators to get a better picture of the process further changes are required. The operators perform assembling activities at the station, but since the scope of the study was to map the coolant filling this was a delimitation and have not been considered. To decrease the lead times, rebalancing will be needed which prioritize the filling process and its process steps. The assembling work tasks will be needed to be fitted thereafter and might need to be moved to other production stations as well.

In addition to that visual management will serve as an aid that will lead to decreased lead times, a dimension of social sustainability could also be improved by implementing it. Since it gives the operators a better view of the process, the visual management can also serve as an aid to decrease the stress level at the coolant filling station. By knowing for how long the process has left until the operator needs to be at a certain place, the operator will be able to plan his surrounding work tasks without having to be observant on whether the filling process is done or not. So, visual management could both increase the capacity of the coolant filling station as well as the well-being among the operators regarding their stress-levels.

Estimated maximum filling volumes has been calculated for each equipment based on the data collected and measurements that has been performed. The calculations were made by linear regression modeling due to the data set collected, which calculates a linear relationship between volume and time. Since the data contains two sizes of cooling systems, named small and large systems in this study, a linear regression was preferred. Though, the data indicates that the filling time is exponential towards the volume which means that filling a larger system would be faster in terms of liters per second. The estimated volumes are therefore regarded to be a bit lower than what might turn out to be the real result after implementing the suggested improvements.

What was discovered during this project was that there are similar liquid filling stations in Volvo Cars plants that have been improved in certain ways. The brake-fluid filling station in VCT has equipment that is working similar to the coolant filling station. Here, the station is equipped with visual management and some operations performed have been automated to decrease the work tasks done by the operators. Another example, at the Volvo plant in Ghent, Belgium, the coolant filling station has three equipment, in contrast to four at VCT, and are still able to perform the operations with the same takt. According to interviews, this was because of constraints that did not allow Ghent to have four equipment and they were thereby forced to optimize the current equipment. These two examples indicate that it might exist inhouse knowledges that can be applicable somewhere else within the organization.

One of the improvements includes investing in a new equipment, this means that five equipment in total are used on the station. This option might be initially costly due to rebuild of the line and purchase of an equipment. Another issue that might occur if investing in a fifth equipment is the length of the line. If Volvo decides to invest in a new equipment one thing to consider is that four equipment can be used at the same time without the need to extend the lines length.

What has occurred to be a problem during our investigation is to get the estimated values for the filling volumes on the first car models entirely powered by electricity. It seems to be an uncertainty within the organization which origins in the development departments where different numbers have occurred on different occasions. For a ME-unit that want to base decisions on facts, the communication with development departments are of high importance. If the facts are uncertain the result of a production preparation can also be uncertain. According to Lean philosophy it is important to understand the process to be able to improve it (Liker and Hoseus, 2008). As seen during this study there might be lack of overall knowledge about the process, because of the departments are focused on their specific tasks. A possible way for different departments to obtain a better knowledge about the station is to continuously share knowledge about changes and improvements. One example, Tooling might be able inform ME about technical advancements in visual management systems for equipment, which could emphasize the design of work instructions. Another example, R&D and Tooling might be able to communicate on how advancements in equipment technology might impact the design of the vehicles.

5.2 Study methodology and future studies

Volvo has a history of producing cars and are used to continuously initiate new car projects. However, Volvo will be facing a great challenge and technological changes within production when the new electric car models start being produced. The power train is different from what has been experienced since the start of the company. The production lines will need to adapt and many stations, in addition to the coolant filling station, will face new technical requirement and work tasks. Learning points from this study is that knowing what to prepare for and knowing how operations are performing today facilitates a transform into a technological shift.

The six-sigma and DMAIC approach that has been followed in this project has been successful. The DMAIC approach has encouraged to use structured methods and tools to break down an initially broad problem description into smaller manageable areas. The method has encouraged to ask "why" and by iterating finding the root cause to smaller problems. The downside of using DMAIC and six-sigma is to know when to stop iterating and breaking down the problems into smaller areas. In this study, it could have been possible to go even deeper into the technicality about the equipment and investigate components within the equipment for example.

Volvo could face the same kind of challenges at other production plants worldwide where the electric cars will be produced. The same methodology used in this study, could be used to investigate and analyze the stations within other Volvo plants. Starting off by defining and mapping the station in detail to understand what input and output parameters that affect the station. Collecting quantitative data from the process monitor and pressure measurements. The two quantitative data sets provide future studies with data suitable for identifying possible improvement areas on both station and equipment level, resulting in a potential maximum filling volume.

6 Conclusion

The aim with this study was to map and see how the current state of the coolant filling station at VCT would fit into a predicted increase of coolant systems in the upcoming car models. The capacity and the operations have been well fitted for the today's takt of production and has not required any radical improvement efforts. To answer the research questions the coolant filling process and its surrounding organization has been examined and will be answered in this section.

Two critical parameters have been identified that affect the capacity of the coolant filling station and which has a potential to be improved.

- The first parameter is wastes within the process in terms of waiting times by the operators. To decrease these waiting times our recommendation is to start using visual management to a greater extent where the operator can see when it is time to perform the next operation and thereby improve the overall efficiency of the process.
- The second parameter in the coolant filling station is the actual filling process. The filling process was examined, and it turned out to be sub optimized. Improvement actions would make the filling more effective, resulting in a capacity of filling more volume in a shorter amount of time.

Collaboration between R&D, ME and Tooling to support future transformation

- The future technical requirements need to be communicated to all involved departments in a more structured way. R&D needs to in an early stage involve Tooling, to ensure that the vehicle designs are as smoothly as possible to implement in the factory.
- ME and Tooling needs to have a common understanding about the bottlenecks in each station and together with production technicians balance the stations around the bottlenecks to ensure as little waste as possible.
- ME and Tooling should consider using visual management on equipment with critical lead times to ensure that the work standard is followed.
- Future improvement projects should investigate and share lessons-learned within the company globally. For example, the improved coolant filling station in Ghent, the knowledge should be shared among all Volvo plants.

7 References

Barney, M. (2002) Motorola's second generation. *Six Sigma Forum Magazine*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 13-16.

Bergman, B. and Klefsjö, B. (2010) *Quality from Customer needs to customer satisfaction, 3rd edition,* Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2011) Business Research Methods (3rd edition), Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Cerilles, J. T. (2005) *Measurement and control of brake pedal feel quality in automotive manufacturing*, Cambridge: MIT Sloan School of Management.

Cox, J. F. and Schleier, J. G. (2010) *Theory of constraints handbook*, New York: McGraw-Hill.

Damelio, R. (2011) Basics of Process Mapping (2nd Edition), New York: Productivity Press

George, M. L., Rowlands, D., Price, M. and Maxey, J. (2005) *The lean Six Sigma pocket toolbook: a quick reference guide to nearly 100 tools for improving process quality, speed, and complexity,* New York: McGraw-Hill.

Hammersberg, P. (2017) *P-map*, lecture notes, Chalmers University of Technology, delivered 22 March 2017

Kalman, H. K. (2002) Process Mapping: Tools, Techniques & Critical Success Factors. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 57-73.

Knupfer, S. M., Hensley, R., Hertzke, P. and Schaufuss, P. (2017) Electrifying insights: How automakers can drive electrified vehicle sales and profitability, *Advanced Industries January 2017*, McKinsey&Company.

Liker, J. K. and Hoseus, M. (2008) *Toyota culture: the heart and soul of the Toyota way*, New York: McGraw-Hill.

Locher, D. (2008) Value stream mapping for lean development: a how-to guide for streamlining time to market, Boca Raton: Taylor & Francis.

Lokkerbol, J., Does, R., de Mast, J. and Schoonhoven, M. (2012) Improving processes in financial service organizations: where to begin?, *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, vol. 29, no. 9, pp. 981-999.

Lödding, H. and Rossi, R. (2013) Handbook of manufacturing control: fundamentals, description, configuration, Berlin: Springer.

Mali, M. (2016). Fault Analysis of Brake Oil and Coolant Filling Machine. *Imperial Journal of Interdisciplinary Research* 2.8, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 46-48.

Pourmovahed, A., Dostinov, D., Vitek, M., Shkokani, A., Nguyen, H. and Fluegge, J. (1999) The Effects of Retained Fluid and Humidity on the Evacuation of Critical Vehicle Systems. I *International Automotive Manufacturing Conference and Exposition*, 11 May 1999, Detroit, MI.

Rhinehart, R. R. (2016) Nonlinear Regression Modeling for Engineering Applications : Modeling, Model Validation, and Enabling Design of Experiments, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.

Rother, M. and Shook, J. (2003) *Learning to see: value stream mapping to create value and eliminate muda*, Brookline, MA: Lean Enterprise Institute.

Schroeder, R. G., Linderman, K., Liedtke, C. and Choo, A. S. (2008) Six Sigma: Definition and underlying theory, *Journal of Operations Management*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 536-554.

Slack, N., Chambers, S. and Johnston, R. (2010) *Operations Management e-book*, (6th edition), New York: Pearson Education.

Tezel, A., Koskela, L. and Tzortzopoulos, P. (2016) Visual management in production management: a literature synthesis, *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 766-799.

Volvo Car Group (2017) Annual Report 2016. Available at: https://investors.volvocars.com (Accessed: 25 January 2018).

Appendix I – Interview questions

Statement to interviewees: We are investigating the coolant filling station and the changes that might occur when transitioning from ICE's to EV's.

- Regarding the statement, what would your desired result from that study be? What do you want to be reported?
- Do you have any specific details about the topic that you would like to know more about?
- If the station is rebuilt/changed, who are involved, and are you involved?
- What are your biggest challenges in a transformation from ICE's to EV's?

Appendix II – Process controller inputs

	C1	C2	C3	C4	
Pressure	etest settir	ng motor			
Step30, air inlet level (Pset3)	1,5	1,4	1,5	1,4	bar
PF30A_T, already filled	2	2	2	2	S
PF30B_t, major pressure leak	60	60	60	60	S
Step30_t, Delay on PSet3 and dPset1	15	15	15	15	S
Step31, Air pressure test level					
(PSet2)	1	1	1	1	bar
Step31, Air press. Diff level (dPSet1)	3	3	3	3	mbar
Step31_T, pressure test time	5	5	5	5	S
PF31_T, Delay on dPSet1	5	5	5	5	S
	ion Settin	ng Motor			
Step40,42, Evacuation level (PSet1)	40	40	40	40	mbar
Step40_T, Delay on PSet1	5	5	5	5	S
PF40A, Major vacuum leak level					
(PSet3)	70	70	70	70	mbar
PF40A_T, Major vacuum leak time	40	30	30	30	S
PF40B_T, Minor vacuum leak time	90	95	90	95	S
PF41, Vacuum test level (Pset2)	60	60	60	60	mbar
Step41_T, vacuum test time	2	2	2	2	S
Step42, delay on PSet1	2	2	2	2	S
PF42_T, Minor vacuum leak time	15	15	15	15	S
Filling	g settings	motor			
Step52, fill pressure level (PSet3)	1,5	1,5	1,5	1,5	bar
Step52, flow level FSet1	5	5	5	5	p/s
Step52_T delay on PSet3 and FSet1	5	5	5	5	S
PF52A_T time out filling	99	99	99	99	S
PF52B, min filling volume	8	8	8	8	1
PF52B, max filling volume	15	15	15	15	1
PF53, Fill pressure test level (PSet2)	1	1	1	1	bar
Step53_T, Fill pressure test time	2	2	2	2	S
Step54_T, leveling time	15	10	15	10	S
Step54, leveling level (PSet1)	0,5	0,6	0,6	0,6	bar

Appendix III – Boxplots for overall process

C1 – Large system



C1 – Small system



C2 – Large system



C2 – Small system



C3 – Large system



C3 – Small system



C4 – Large system



C4 – Small system



Total (C1-C4) – Large system



Total (C1-C4) – Small system



Appendix IV – Boxplots for equipment filling process

C1 – Large system



Quant	iles	
100.0%	maximum	5,213
99.5%		5,213
97.5%		5,21075
90.0%		5,209
75.0%	quartile	5,207
50.0%	median	5,202
25.0%	quartile	5,199
10.0%		5,197
2.5%		5,19325
0.5%		5,188
0.0%	minimum	5,188

Summary Statistics Mean Std Dev Std Err Mean 5,2024058 0,0046851 0.000564 Upper 95% Mean Lower 95% Mean N 5,2035313 5,2012803 69



Quantiles								
100.0%	maximum	39,365						
99.5%		39,365						
97.5%		39,14						
90.0%		38,821						
75.0%	quartile	38,62						
50.0%	median	38,377						
25.0%	quartile	38,0325						
10.0%		37,797						
2.5%		37,58475						
0.5%		37,572						
0.0%	minimum 37,572							
Summary Statistics								
Mean		38,359087						
Std Dev		0,391867						
Std Err M	Mean	0,0471752						

Upper 95% Mean 38,453224 Lower 95% Mean 38,26495 N 69



100.0% maximum 24,621 99.5% 97.5% 90.0% 75.0% 50.0% 25.0% 10.0% 24.621 24,54525 24,063 23,921 quartile quartile 23,817 23,76 23.647 2.5% 0.5% 23,45925 23,364 minimum 0.0% 23.364 **Summary Statistics**

Mean Std Dev Std Err Mean 23,845348 0,1918114 0.0230914 Upper 95% Mean Lower 95% Mean 23,891426 23,79927 N 69



Quant	lles	
100.0%	maximum	2,016
99.5%		2,016
97.5%		2,01525
90.0%		2,014
75.0%	quartile	2,011
50.0%	median	2,008
25.0%	quartile	2,005
10.0%		2,003
2.5%		2,00075
0.5%		2
0.0%	minimum	2
Summ	ary Stat	istics
Mean		2,008
Std Dev		0,0037769
Std Err I	Mean	0,0004547

Upper 95% Mean 2,0089073 Lower 95% Mean 2,0070927 N 69



Quantiles 100.0% maximum 2,013 99.5% 97.5% 90.0% 75.0% 50.0% 25.0% 10.0% 2.013 2,013 2,012 quartile 2.009 quartile 2,007 2,0035 2,003 2,002 2,001 2,001 2.5% 0.0% minimum 2.001 **Summary Statistics**

Mean Std Dev Std Err Mean 2.0066522 0,0035679 0.0004295 Upper 95% Mean Lower 95% Mean N 69



15,027 15,027 15.027 15,024 15,0225

15.02 15,016 15,015

15.01275 15,012 15,012

15.019304

0,003735 0,0004496

15.020202 15,018407 69

 Quantiles

 100.0%
 maximum

 99.5%
 90.0%

 97.5%
 90.0%

 50.0%
 quartile

 50.0%
 quartile

 100.0%
 quartile

 25.0%
 quartile

 25.0%
 quartile

2.5% 0.5% 0.0%

Mean

Std Dev Std Err Mean

Upper 95% Mean Lower 95% Mean N

quartile , median

quartile

minimum Summary Statistics

2,165 2,16 2,155 2,155 2,15 2,145 2,145 2,145 2,135			
2,13	-		
2,125	Π.		÷
2,12	_		
Quant	iles		
100.0%	maximum	2,16	1

Evacuation 2

100.0%	maximum	2,161
99.5%		2,161
97.5%		2,1595
90.0%		2,154
75.0%	quartile	2,146
50.0%	median	2,142
25.0%	quartile	2,137
10.0%		2,13
2.5%		2,12375
0.5%		2,123
0.0%	minimum	2,123

2,1418551 0,0083987 0.0010111 Upper 95% Mean 2,1438727 Lower 95% Mean 2,1398375 N 69

Summary Statistics Mean Std Dev Std Err Mean

C1 – Small system



100.0%	maximum	5,215
99.5%		5,212515
97.5%		5,21
90.0%		5,208
75.0%	quartile	5,206
50.0%	median	5,202
25.0%	quartile	5,199
10.0%		5,197
2.5%		5,195
0.5%		5,19
0.0%	minimum	5,187
c	c	•

Summary Statistics Mean Std Dev Std Err Mean Upper 95% Mean Lower 95% Mean N 5,2024411 0,0042263 0,0001602 5,2027556



Quant	iles	
100.0%	maximum	30,479
99.5%		30,3461
97.5%		30,1547
90.0%		29,879
75.0%	quartile	29,5
50.0%	median	29,21
25.0%	quartile	28,83
10.0%		28,50
2.5%		28,16692
0.5%		27,7855
0.0%	minimum	25,29
C		4 ¹

Summary Statistics

Mean	29,187075
Std Dev	0,5378777
Std Err Mean	0,0203882
Upper 95% Mean	29,227105
Lower 95% Mean	29,147045
N	696





 Std Dev
 0,2714068

 Std Err Mean
 0,0102876

 Upper 95% Mean
 19,709133

 Lower 95% Mean
 19,668735

 N
 696



Quantiles Quantiles 100.0% maximum 99.5% 90.0% 75.0% quartile 50.0% median 25.0% quartile 10.0% 2.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% minimum 2,016 2,015515 2,013 2,012 2,01 2,008 2,008 2,004 2,002 2,001 1,999

Summary Statistics

 Mean
 2,0071911

 Std Dev
 2,0071911

 Std Dev
 0,0037855

 Std Frr Mean
 0,0001435

 Loper 95% Mean
 2,0074728

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,006904

 N
 696

Leveling



100.076	maximum	2,029
99.5%		2,027515
97.5%		2,026
90.0%		2,024
75.0%	quartile	2,023
50.0%	median	2,02
25.0%	quartile	2,016
10.0%		2,014
2.5%		2,012
0.5%		2,012
0.0%	minimum	2,012

Summary Statistics

 Mean
 2,0193793

 Std Dev
 0,0039064

 Std Err Mean
 0,0001481

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,01967

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,01967

 N
 696



Quantiles		
100.0%	maximum	2,016
99.5%		2,015515
97.5%		2,015
90.0%		2,013
75.0%	quartile	2,011
50.0%	median	2,007
25.0%	quartile	2,004
10.0%		2,002
2.5%		2,001
0.5%		2
0.0%	minimum	2

Summary Statistics	
Mean	2,0073175
Std Dev	0,0041374
Std Err Mean	0,0001568
Upper 95% Mean	2,0076254
Lower 95% Mean	2,0070096
N	696



100.0%	maximum	10,028
99.5%		10,027
97.5%		10,027
90.0%		10,025
75.0%	quartile	10,023
50.0%	median	10,021
25.0%	quartile	10,017
10.0%		10,016
2.5%		10,013
0.5%		10,012
0.0%	minimum	10,012

Summary Statistics

Mean	10,020341
Std Dev	0,0036636
Std Err Mean	0,0001389
Upper 95% Mean	10,020613
Lower 95% Mean	10,020068
N	696

C2 – Large system



100.0%	maximum	5,213
99.5%		5,213
97.5%		5,2118
90.0%		5,208
75.0%	quartile	5,206
50.0%	median	5,202
25.0%	quartile	5,2
10.0%		5,198
2.5%		5,1931
0.5%		5,192
0.0%	minimum	5,192
Summ	ary Stat	istics
Mean		5,2027349
Std Dev		0,0042256
Std Err I	Mean	0,0004638
Upper 9	5% Mean	5,2036576
Lower 9	5% Mean	5,2018123
N		83







Evacuation 1

•

28,5

28

Quant	iles	
100.0% 99.5% 97.5% 90.0% 75.0% 50.0% 25.0% 10.0% 2.5% 0.5% 0.0%	maximum quartile median quartile minimum	2,016 2,0149 2,012 2,01 2,006 2,003 2,001 2,0001 2 2 2 2
Summ	ary Stat	istics
	Mean 15% Mean 5% Mean	2,0066627 0,0040733 0,0004471 2,0075521 2,0057732 83

2



	99.5%		2,01:	>
	97.5%		2,012	2
	90.0%		2,012	2
	75.0%	quartile	2,01	1
	50.0%	median	2,007	7
	25.0%	quartile	2,003	3
	10.0%		2,002	2
	2.5%		2,0001	1
	0.5%		2	2
	0.0%	minimum	ĩ	2
Summary Statistics				
	Mean		2,0069518	
	Std Dev		0,0037803	
	Std Err Mean		0,0004149	
	Upper 95% Mean		2,0077772	
	Lower 95% Mean		2,0061264	

N

Leveling 15,028 15,026 15.024 15,022 \Diamond 15,02 15,018 15,016 15,014

83



Summary Statistics				
0.0%	minimum	2,185		
0.5%		2,185		
2.5%		2,1881		
10.0%		2,1984		
25.0%	quartile	2,209		
50.0%	median	2,247		
75.0%	quartile	2,27		
90.0%		2,2906		
97.5%		2,4172		
99.5%		2,433		
100.0%	maximum	2,433		

Mean 2,2470602
 Niean
 2,2470602

 Std Dev
 0,046815

 Std Err Mean
 0,0051386

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,2572826

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,2368379

 N
 83





83

Ν

C2 – Small system



100.0%	maximum 34		89
99.5%		34,680	71
97.5%	34,28		25
90.0%	33,6		41
75.0%	quartile 33,2		35
50.0%	median	32,7	92
25.0%	quartile	32,377	75
10.0%		31,95	86
2.5%		31,503	15
0.5%	31,089		85
0.0%	minimum 3		15
Summary Stat		istics	
Mean		32,809492	
Std Dev		0,6671662	
Std Err Mean		0,0229376	
Upper 95% Mean		32,854513	
Lower 95% Mean		32,76447	
NI		046	

846

N



Pressure test

12

10

8

6

4

2

99.5% 97.5%

90.0% 75.0% 50.0% 25.0%

10.0% 2.5%

0.5% 0.0%

Mean Std Dev

N

Quantiles

100.0% maximum

quartile median quartile

minimum

Summary Statistics

 Std Err Mean
 0,0001459

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,0076161

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,0070435



Quantiles			
100.0%	maximum	2,016	
99.5%		2,015	
97.5%		2,014	
90.0%		2,012	
75.0%	quartile	2,011	
50.0%	median	2,008	
25.0%	quartile	2,004	
10.0%		2,002	
2.5%		2,001	
0.5%		2	
0.0%	minimum	1,999	

Summary Statistics Mean 2,00724
 Mean
 2,00724

 Std Dev
 0,0038391

 Std Err Mean
 0,000132

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,007499

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,0069809

 N
 846
 0,0038391



100.070	maximum	2,450	
99.5%		2,381775	
97.5%		2,306825	
90.0%		2,1873	
75.0%	quartile	2,023	
50.0%	median	2,02	
25.0%	quartile	2,016	
10.0%		2,014	
2.5%		2,013	
).5%		2,012	
).0%	minimum	2,011	
Summary Statistics			
Vlean		2.0466099	
Std Dev		0.0818166	

 Std Dev
 0,0818166

 Std Err Mean
 0,0028129

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,052131

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,0410888
 846

Ň



846

2.017

2,016 2.015

2,013 2,013 2,011

2,007 2,004

2.002 2,001

2,0073298 0,0042428

846

2

2

100.0%	maximum	10,028
99.5%		10,027
97.5%		10,026
90.0%		10,025
75.0%	quartile	10,023
50.0%	median	10,02
25.0%	quartile	10,017
10.0%		10,016
2.5%		10,013
0.5%		10,012235
0.0%	minimum	10,012

Summary Statistics		
Mean	10,020255	
Std Dev	0,0036284	
Std Err Mean	0,0001247	
Upper 95% Mean	10,0205	
Lower 95% Mean	10,02001	
N	846	



C3 – Large system

C3 – Small system





Quant	lies	
100.0%	maximum	21,889
99.5%		21,65704
97.5%		21,596
90.0%		21,496
75.0%	quartile	21,307
50.0%	median	21,056
25.0%	quartile	20,876
10.0%		20,7476
2.5%		20,579
0.5%		20,44876
0.0%	minimum	20,387
Summary Statistics		
Mean		21,086902
Std Dev		0,2818265
Std Err I	Mean	0,0083215
Upper 9	5% Mean	21,103229
Lower 9	5% Mean	21,070575
N		1147

Pressure test

10

8

6

4

2

Quantiles

99.5% 97.5%

90.0%

75.0% 50.0%

25.0% 10.0%

2.5%

0.5%

0.0%

Mean

N

Std Dev

Std Err Mean

100.0% maximum

quartile median

quartile

minimum

Upper 95% Mean 2,0082143 Lower 95% Mean 2,0069819

Summary Statistics

0

2,337

2,016

2.015

2,013

2.011

2,007

2,003 2,002

2,001

1,999

2,0075981

0.0106368

0,0003141

1147

2



Quantiles				
100.0%	maximum	2,016		
99.5%		2,014		
97.5%		2,013		
90.0%		2,012		
75.0%	quartile	2,01		
50.0%	median	2,008		
25.0%	quartile	2,004		
10.0%		2,002		
2.5%		2,001		
0.5%		2		
0.0%	minimum	1,999		
Summ	ary Statistic	s		

 Mean
 2,0072014

 Std Dev
 0,003707

 Std Err Mean
 0,001095

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,0074162

 Lower 95% Mean
 1,117

Leveling



Quant	tiles	
100.0%	maximum	10,028
99.5%		10,027
97.5%		10,027
90.0%		10,025
75.0%	quartile	10,023
50.0%	median	10,02
25.0%	quartile	10,017
10.0%		10,015
2.5%		10,013
0.5%		10,012
0.0%	minimum	9,691

summary statistics		
Mean	10,02002	
Std Dev	0,0104246	
Std Err Mean	0,0003078	
Upper 95% Mean	10,020624	
Lower 95% Mean	10,019416	
N	1147	



Quantiles				
100.0%	maximum	2,216		
99.5%		2,028		
97.5%		2,026		
90.0%		2,024		
75.0%	quartile	2,023		
50.0%	median	2,02		
25.0%	quartile	2,016		
10.0%		2,014		
2.5%		2,012		
0.5%		2,012		
0.0%	minimum	2,012		

Summary Statistics Mean

2,0195632
 Mean
 2,0195632

 Std Dev
 0,0070317

 Std Err Mean
 0,0002076

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,0199706

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,0191558

 N
 1147

Std Dev

Ν

Std Err Mean

Upper 95% Mean 33,151951 Lower 95% Mean 33,063137

0.7665283

0,0226332

1147

C4 – Large system



 \Diamond

99.5%		5,214
97.5%		5,211
90.0%		5,209
75.0%	quartile	5,206
50.0%	median	5,202
25.0%	quartile	5,199
10.0%		5,197
2.5%		5,194
0.5%		5,193
0.0%	minimum	5,193

Summary Statistics
 Summer:
 5,2026325

 Mean
 5,0043462

 Std Err Mean
 0,0043462

 Upper 95% Mean
 5,2034283

 Lower 95% Mean
 5,2018366

 N
 117



Quantiles				
100.0% 99.5% 97.5% 90.0% 75.0% 50.0% 25.0% 10.0% 2.5% 0.5% 0.0%	maximum quartile median quartile minimum	42,622		
Summary Statistics				
Mean Std Dev Std Err Mean Upper 95% Mean Lower 95% Mean N		42,660325 0,425843 0,0393692 42,7383 42,582349 117		

Evacuat	ion 1	
27 -		
26,5 -	-	
	_	
26		:
26		↑
25,5 -		[🖄
25 -		-
25		
	-	

100.0%	maximum	26,249	
99.5%		26,249	
97.5%		26,09735	
90.0%		25,8354	
75.0%	quartile	25,614	
50.0%	median	25,5	
25.0%	quartile	25,396	
10.0%		25,2956	
2.5%		25,1599	
0.5%		25,152	
0.0%	minimum	25,152	
Summary Statistics			
Mean	Mean 25,529111		
Std Dev		0,2125196	

 Std Dev
 0,2125196

 Std Err Mean
 0,0196474

 Upper 95% Mean
 25,568025

 Lower 95% Mean
 25,490197

 N
 117



100.0% maximum 2,015 99.5% 97.5% 90.0% 75.0% 50.0% 25.0% 10.0% 2,013 2,015 2,01305 2,012 2,011 quartile quartile 2,007 2,003 2,0018 2.5% 0.5% 0.0% 2,00095 2 minimum

2

Summary Statistics

 Mean
 2,0068034

 Std Dev
 0,0039419

 Std Irr Mean
 0,003641

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,0075252

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,0068016

 N
 117



Summary Statistics

 Mean
 2,2347949

 Std Dev
 0,0424925

 Std Frr Mean
 0,0039284

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,2425756

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,21470141

 N
 117



Quantiles					
100.0%	maximum	2,015			
99.5%		2,015			
97.5%		2,01405			
90.0%		2,013			
75.0%	quartile	2,011			
50.0%	median	2,007			
25.0%	quartile	2,0035			
10.0%		2,002			
2.5%		2,001			
0.5%		2			
0.0%	minimum	2			
Summary Statistics					

Mean 2,0073761 Std Dev 0,0041559 Std Err Mean 0,0003842 Upper 95% Mean 2,008137 Lower 95% Mean 2,006151 N 117 2,0073761 0,0041559 0,0003842



Quantites			
	100.0%	maximum	15,02
	99.5%		15,023
	97.5%		15,02605
	90.0%		15,025
	75.0%	quartile	15,024
	50.0%	median	15,02
	25.0%	quartile	15,018
	10.0%		15,015
	2.5%		15,012
	0.5%		15,012
	0.0%	minimum	15,012

15,012

Summary Statistics

Mean	15,02041
Std Dev	0,0037946
Std Err Mean	0,0003508
Upper 95% Mean	15,021105
Lower 95% Mean	15,019715
N	117

C4 – Small system



Quantiles			
100.0%	maximum	5,268	
99.5%		5,212	
97.5%	5,20905		
90.0%		5,208	
75.0%	guartile 5,205		
50.0%	median	5,202	
25.0%	quartile	5,199	
10.0%		5,197	
2.5%		5,195	
0.5%		5,191	
0.0%	minimum	5,189	
Summary Statistics			
Mean 5,2022481			
Std Dev			
Std Err I	d Err Mean 0,0001338		

Upper 95% Mean Lower 95% Mean N 1157



Quantiles			
100.0%	maximum	34,017	
99.5%		33,44567	
97.5%		33,1103	
90.0%		32,7744	
75.0%	quartile	32,415	
50.0%	median	32,003	
25.0%	quartile	31,582	
10.0%		31,232	
2.5%		30,75995	
0.5%		30,46685	
0.0%	minimum	30,33	
Summary Statistics			

29

Summary Statistics		
Mean	31,996628	
Std Dev	0,5992532	
Std Err Mean	0,0176175	
Upper 95% Mean	32,031194	
Lower 95% Mean	31,962063	
N	1157	







Quantiles				
100.0%	maximum	2,01	6	
99.5%		2,0152	1	
97.5%		2,01	5	
90.0%		2,01	3	
75.0%	quartile	2,01	1	
50.0%	median	2,00	8	
25.0%	quartile	2,004	4	
10.0%		2,00	2	
2.5%		2,00	1	
0.5%			2	
0.0%	minimum		2	
Summary Statistics				
Mean 2,0074866				
Std Dev		0,0042383		
Std Err Mean 0,0001246				

Upper 95% Mean Lower 95% Mean N 1157



Quantiles 100.0% maximum 2,015 99.5% 97.5% 90.0% 75.0% 50.0% 25.0% 10.0% 2.5% 0.5% 0.0% 2,015 2,014 2,012 2,01 2,007 2,004 2,002 2,001 quartile median quartile minimum 1,999 Summary Statistics
 Summer
 2,0071115

 Std Dev
 0,0038086

 Std Frr Mean
 0,000112

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,0073312

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,0068918

 N
 1157



Evacuation 2

Quant	iles	
100.0%	maximum	2,028
99.5%		2,027
97.5%		2,026
90.0%		2,024
75.0%	quartile	2,023
50.0%	median	2,02
25.0%	quartile	2,016
10.0%		2,014
2.5%		2,012
0.5%		2,012
0.0%	minimum	2,011

Summary Statistics Mea Std Std

Mean	2,0193656
Std Dev	0,00395
Std Err Mean	0,0001161
Upper 95% Mean	2,0195934
Lower 95% Mean	2,0191378
N	1157

Leveling 10,03 10,025 10,02 10,015

10.0	1		L
Quant	lles		
100.0%	maximum	10,02	28
99.5%		10,02	27
97.5%		10,02	26
90.0%		10,02	25
75.0%	quartile	10,02	23
50.0%	median	10,02	21
25.0%	quartile		
10.0%		10,01	
2.5%		10,01	3
0.5%		10,01	
0.0%	minimum	10,01	2
Summary Statistics			
Mean		10,020341	
Std Dev		0,0037713	
Std Err Mean		0,0001109	
Upper 95% Mean		10,020558	
Lower 95% Mean		10,020123	

1157

N

Total (C1-C4) – Large system



Quantiles		
100.0%	maximum	5,215
99.5%		5,21399
97.5%		5,21
90.0%		5,208
75.0%	quartile	5,206
50.0%	median	5,202
25.0%	quartile	5,199
10.0%		5,197
2.5%		5,195
0.5%		5,192
0.0%	minimum	5,188

Summary Statistics 5,2024589 Mean
 Mean
 5,2024389

 Std Dev
 0,0042555

 Std Err Mean
 0,0002125

 Upper 95% Mean
 5,2028766

 Lower 95% Mean
 5,2020411

 N
 401

Filling



100.0%	maximum	45,389
99.5%		45,20225
97.5%		44,97125
90.0%		44,4328
75.0%	quartile	44,054
50.0%	median	43,294
25.0%	quartile	42,3435
10.0%		38,499
2.5%		37,9223
0.5%		37,58995
0.0%	minimum	37,572

Mean	42,634783
Std Dev	2,0919891
Std Err Mean	0,104469
Upper 95% Mean	42,84016
Lower 95% Mean	42,429406
N	401



Quantiles		
100.0%	maximum	28,27
99.5%		27,8700
97.5%		27,100
90.0%		26,732
75.0%	quartile	25,73
50.0%	median	25,35
25.0%	quartile	25,07
10.0%		23,837
2.5%		23,694
0.5%		23,491
0.0%	minimum	23,36
Summ	nary Stat	istics
Mean		25,393895

 Mean
 25,393895

 Std Dev
 0,946479

 Std Err Mean
 0,0472649

 Upper 95% Mean
 25,486814

 Lower 95% Mean
 25,300977

 N
 401
 401

Pressure test



100.0%	maximum	2,016
99.5%		2,016
97.5%		2,014
90.0%		2,013
75.0%	quartile	2,011
50.0%	median	2,007
25.0%	quartile	2,004
10.0%		2,002
2.5%		2,001
0.5%		2
0.0%	minimum	2

Mean	2,0071995
Std Dev	0,0041539
Std Err Mean	0,0002074
Upper 95% Mean	2,0076073
Lower 95% Mean	2,0067917
N	401

Vacuum t	test	
2,016 -	1	
2,014 -		
2,012 -		
2,01 -		
2,008 -		
2,006 -		\diamond
2,004 -		
2,002 -		
2 -		
-		

Quantiles
 Quantiles

 100.0%
 maximum

 99.5%
 90.0%

 97.5%
 90.0%

 90.0%
 quartile

 50.0%
 quartile

 100.0%
 quartile

 10.0%
 quartile

 0.0%
 minimum

 Summary Stati
 Statistics
 2,015 2,01499 2,013 2,012 2,01 2,007 2,007 2,003 2,002 2,001 2 2

Summary Statistics

 Mean
 2,0067182

 Std Dev
 0,0038188

 Std Frr Mean
 0,0001907

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,00670931

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,0063433

 N
 401



Quant	iles	
100.0%	maximum	15,028
99.5%		15,027
97.5%		15,026
90.0%		15,025
75.0%	quartile	15,023
50.0%	median	15,02
25.0%	quartile	15,017
10.0%	- C	15,015
2.5%		15,013
0.5%		15,012
0.0%	minimum	15,012

Summary Statistics

Mean	15,020027
Std Dev	0,0036731
Std Err Mean	0,0001834
Upper 95% Mean	15,020388
Lower 95% Mean	15,019667
N	401



Quant	iles	
100.0%	maximum	2,433
99.5%		2,42191
97.5%		2,35555
90.0%		2,279
75.0%	quartile	2,2625
50.0%	median	2,222
25.0%	quartile	2,1955
10.0%		2,144
2.5%		2,13305
0.5%		2,12402
0.0%	minimum	2,123

Summary Statistics Mean

2,2249227
 Mean
 2,224927

 Std Dev
 0,0546283

 Std Err Mean
 0,002728

 Upper 95% Mean
 2,2302857

 Lower 95% Mean
 2,2195597

 N
 401

Total (C1-C4) – Small system





Fit Curve







Model Compa RMSE R-Square 0.26433 0,95471 AICc BIC SSE MSE 145,43788 159,46156 55,756518 0,0698703 Model Linear 0.26433 Plot 21,0 20,0 19,0 18,0 17.0 Volume - C1 16,0 15,0 14,0 13,0 12.0 11,0 10,0 9.0 9, 8,0 + 25 30 35 40 Filling - C1 45 50 Linear Prediction Model a + b • Filling - C1 a=Intercept b=Slope **Parameter Estimates** Parameter Estimate Std Error Lower 95% Upper 95% Intercept -2,98501 0,0989856 -3,179018 -2,791002 Slope 0,4238513 0,003268 0,4174462 0,4302564

C2 Filling



C3 Evacuation 1

C3 Filling









C4 Filling

